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WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION

Bradley Haward

• International Credential Evaluation Service - ICES

• Vancouver, Canada (TAICEP Conference 2019)

• ICES is a member of Canadian Information Centre for International Credentials (CICIC)

• CICIC is Canada’s representative in the ENIC-NARIC Networks

• In the last 7 years, my focus has been on Africa, especially Francophone Africa

• When I first started focusing on Francophone Africa, information was scarce
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Country Authors Year

Benin Iphie Pysarenko and Sarah Ledwidge (ICAS) 2021

Burundi Kim Vanelderen (NARIC-Vlaanderen)

Mandy Morrison (Scholaro Inc)

2022

Cameroon Tiffany Campbell and Valérie Ismar-Jabot (CES) 2021

Côte d’Ivoire Bradley Haward (ICES) 2021

Madagascar Amy Kawa and Melissa Ganiere (ECE) 2022

Rwanda Amy Kawa and Melissa Ganiere (ECE) 2022

Senegal Iphie Pysarenko and Sarah Ledwidge (ICAS) 2021

https://taicep2021.dryfta.com/program-schedule/program/expanded
https://dryfta-assets.s3.eu-central-1.amazonaws.com/assets/taicep2022/abstractfiles/1665524435811_TAICEP_Ed_in_Burundi_2022.pdf
https://taicep2021.dryfta.com/program-schedule/program/expanded
https://taicep2021.dryfta.com/program-schedule/program/expanded
https://taicep2022.dryfta.com/program-schedule/program/56/this-is-africa-madagascar-and-rwanda
https://taicep2022.dryfta.com/program-schedule/program/56/this-is-africa-madagascar-and-rwanda
https://taicep2021.dryfta.com/program-schedule/program/expanded


WHAT WE ARE COVERING

• Harmonization in Europe – Bologna

• Bolonga’s effect on Africa

• Harmonization in Africa in General

• Regional Trends Harmonization in Africa

• Focus on LMD reforms in Francophone Africa

• Review individual countries providing sample credentials
• Fill in the gaps for the other countries we have not created presentations for



Bologna and African 
Harmonization

• The idea of harmonization started in Europe with the Bologna 
Declaration in 1999

• 29 European countries signed

• Proposed a European Higher Education Area

• Students and graduates would be able to transfer their 
education from one country to the next

• Member countries had to agree on a system, then individual 
member countries had to adapt and conform to the new 
system



Bologna’s Key Concepts

• Enormous amount of work and change was implemented, but 
for this subject, we’ll keep it some key concepts

• Adoption of higher education framework that is divided into 
three cycles:

1. Bachelor Degree – 3 years

2. Master Degree – 2 years

3. Doctoral Degree – 3 years

• Establishment of a uniform credit system (ECTS) - 60 credits per 
year

• Standardization of Grades and Grading Systems – ECTS Grades



FRANCE IMPLEMENTS THE LMD 
REFORMS

• LMD = Licence – Master – Doctorat 

• They were reforms implemented in France in order to comply 
with Bologna Process 

• Bologna Process:  Signed in 1999; implemented by France in 
2002, full conversion in 2010

• Harmonization and standardization of 
1. Qualifications Framework and its three cycles

2. Semesters and teaching units

3. Credits 

4. Grade Scales



STRUCTURE OF THE OLD AND NEW SYSTEMS

OLD SYSTEM

Baccalauréat

DUEG

Licence

Maîtrise

DEA DESS

Doctorat

+2

+1

+1

+1

+3

LMD STRUCTURE 

Baccalauréat

Licence

Master +2

180 
Credits

120 
Credits

Doctorat +3 180 
Credits

+3



SEMESTERS AND TEACHING UNITS

OLD SYSTEM

• Usually full year – No semesters

• Coefficients or Unités de 
Valeurs(UV)

• Coefficients and UVs were not 
standardized

LMD SYSTEM

• Two semester each year

• Licence = 6 Semesters

• 60 credit per year

• 30 per semester



HARMONIZATION IN AFRICA

• The Bologna process sparked a conversation in Africa about 
the harmonization of credentials in Africa

• Many Africans also go to Europe for higher education

• One in every 16 students in Africa travel abroad for education

• Many African schools started adopting the nomenclature and 
degree structure to help their graduates to transfer to Europe

• African countries are experience a push and pull on two levels

1. Pan-African harmonization

2. Global transferability



ARUSHA CONVENTION  - 1981

• Roots of Harmonization goes back to the 1980s

• The Arusha Convention is a framework agreement which 
provides general guidelines meant to promote regional 
cooperation on the recognition of credentials and the 
academic mobility of students and faculty

• Amended in Cape Town in 2002

• Considerably revised in Addis Ababa in 2014

• Significance: Started the ball rolling



ADDIS CONVENTION - 2015

• The agreement establishes a legal framework for the fair and 
transparent evaluation of HE qualifications in the African 
region to facilitate inter-university cooperation and exchange 
through the mobility of students, researchers and faculty

• 56 Signatories; but only 13 ratifications so far

• Countries that Ratified: Burkina Faso, Congo, Djibouti, Gambia, 
Guinea, Liberia, Mauritius, Mauritania, Senegal, Seychelles, 
South Africa, Togo, and the Holy See

• Came into force in December 2019



REGIONAL HARMONIZATION

• Harmonization in Africa has been significantly successful on the 
regional level  

• The following organizations have played instrumental roles in 
harmonization of education and labour
1. Southern African Development Community (SADC)

2. East African Community (EAC)

3. Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS/CEDEAO)

4. CAMES - Conseil Africain et Malgache pour l’Enseignement Supérieur 
(African and Malagasy Council for Higher Education) 



SOUTHERN AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT 
COMMUNITY (SADC)
• Forerunners of the SADC go back to the 1960s and 

1970s

• Established in 1980; completely overhauled in 1992

• SADC has ratified 27 different protocols on issues 
varying from free trade, defense, and gender 
development

• 1997: Protocol on Education and Training

• Higher education and training co-operation focusing 
on long term standards and harmonization 

• Ratified by 13 of the 16 members

• Protocol on Education and Training came into force 
in 2000



EAST AFRICAN COMMUNITY (EAC)

• Common Market Protocol signed in 2009

• It addresses mutual recognition of 
qualifications, and harmonization of 
curricula, examination standards, 
certification and accreditation of institutions 
to promote free movement of labour in the 
region

• 2006: Kenya, Uganda, and Tanzania signed 
memorandum of co-operation

• This led to the creation of the Inter-University 
Council for East Africa (IUCEA)



INTER-UNIVERSITY COUNCIL FOR EAST 
AFRICA (IUCEA)

• In 1980, Uganda, Tanzania and Kenya meet in Nairobi to 
discuss cooperation between their universities

• A Memorandum of Understanding is signed and the 
IUCEA is created in 1999

• In 2009, East African Legislative Assembly enacts the 
IUCEA, thus “integrating the IUCEA into the EAC 
operational framework.”

• Main Roles and Functions

1. Coordinate inter-university cooperation in East Africa;

2. Facilitate the strategic development of member universities; and

3. Promote internationally comparable higher education standards and 
systems for sustainable regional development.



COMMUNAUTÉ ÉCONOMIQUE DES ÉTATS 
DE L'AFRIQUE DE L'OUEST (CEDEAO)

• English: Economic Community of West African 
States (ECOWAS)

• Founded in 1975

• 2002: Protocol on Education and Training and 
General Convention on the Recognition and 
Equivalence of Degrees, Diplomas, Certificates 
and Other Qualifications

• Regional integration and harmonization is also 
part of the ECOWAS Vision 2020, signed in 2008



REGIONAL TRENDS IN AFRICAN 
CO-OPERATION

• The first initiatives on regional cooperation are 
primarily economic:  SADC, EAC, CEDEAO

• Trying to establish zones of freer trade

• As those economic ties strengthen, the 
realization that educational standards need 
to be harmonized

• These economic bodies start implementing 
protocols and agreements about education

• This includes issues of labour mobility and the 
portability of credentials

• Ministries of Education begin implementing 
the protocols in their constituencies providing 
more harmonization



COOPERATION IN SUB-SAHARAN 
FRANCOPHONE AFRICA

• Of all the regions in Africa, Sub-Saharan 
Francophone Africa has led the way with 
reforms

• Francophone African countries span across 
regional divides: West Africa, Central Africa, 
and East Africa

• Established both trans-national and trans-
regional bodies to achieve their goals 

• CAMES - Conseil Africain et Malgache pour 
l’Enseignement Supérieur



CAMES - CONSEIL AFRICAIN ET MALGACHE 
POUR L’ENSEIGNEMENT SUPÉRIEUR

• Created in 1968

• Covers all of Francophone Africa 

• 19 Countries

• Coordinates the higher education systems of its 
member countries 

• Since 2005, worked hard on implementing the 
LMD reforms and ensuring standardization and 
harmonization of the reforms

• Also participates in quality assurance by 
approving degree programs:

• https://www.lecames.org/diplome_cames/we
b/site/repertoire

https://www.lecames.org/diplome_cames/web/site/repertoire


COUNTRIES OF FRANCOPHONE 
SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

West Africa

• Benin
• Burkina Faso
• Côte d'Ivoire
• Guinea
• Mali
• Niger
• Senegal
• Togo

Central Africa

• Cameroon
• Chad
• Central African Republic
• DR Congo
• Republic of Congo
• Gabon
• Guinea

East Africa

• Burundi
• Madagascar
• Rwanda



RANKING OF FRANCO-AFRICAN 
COUNTRIES BY POPULATION

COUNTRY POPULATION

1 DR Congo 90.0 Million

2 Madagascar 29.6 Million

3 Ivory Coast 28.1 Million

4 Cameroon 27.9 Million

5 Niger 26.2 Million

6 Burkina Faso 22.6 Million

7 Mali 22.5 Million

8 Chad 17.7 Million

9 Senegal 17.3 Million

10 Guinea 13.8 Million

COUNTRY POPULATION

11 Rwanda 13.7 Million

12 Benin 13.3 Million

13 Burundi 12.8 Million

14 Togo 8.8 Million

15 Republic of the Congo 5.9 Million

16 Central African Republic 5.5 Million

17 Gabon 2.3 Million

18 Equatorial Guinea 1.6 Million

19 Djibouti 1.1 Million



FRANCOPHONE COUNTRIES OF WEST 
AFRICA

West Africa

• Benin
• Burkina Faso
• Côte d’Ivoire
• Guinea
• Mali
• Niger
• Senegal
• Togo



UNION ÉCONOMIQUE ET MONÉTAIRE 
OUEST-AFRICAINE - UEMOA

• English: West African Economic and 
Monetary Union

• Primarily Economic Organization

• Makes agreements on education too

• Directive N°03 / 2007/CM/UEMOA du 4 
juin 2007 – UEMOA

• Implementation of the LMD system 
throughout the member countries



REESAO - RÉSEAU POUR L'EXCELLENCE DE 
L'ENSEIGNEMENT SUPÉRIEUR EN AFRIQUE DE L'OUEST

• English: West African Network for 
Excellence in Higher Education

• Created in 2005 in Lomé, Togo

• Its aim is to promote cooperation 
between universities in the region

• Priority on modernizing and offering up-
to-date university degrees

• Specifically, the implementation of the 
LMD reforms

• Partners with CAMES, AUF and UEMOA



Benin

• Population: 10 Million

• Geography: 112,622 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 1990

• Literacy: 42.4% 



Benin

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 
et de la Recherche Scientifique

• LMD Reform passed in 2010: 
Décret n°2010-272 du 11 juin 
2010

• Implemented in 2011

• Both private and public 
institutions adopted quickly

• Be aware of the private 
schools that market themselves 
to Nigerians with English 
degrees and degree titles

https://enseignementsuperieur.gouv.bj/


Benin: Sample Documents



Benin: Sample Documents



Burkina Faso

• Population: 19 Million

• Geography: 274,200 km²

• Government: Military Regime

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 1991; amended in 
2000

• Literacy: 30% 



Burkina Faso

• Ministère de l’Enseignement 
Supérieur, de la Recherche 
Scientifique et de l’Innovation

• LMD Reform passed in 2008: 
l'arrêté n° 2008-
139/PRES/MESSRS/SG/DGERS du 
18 août 2008 

• May 2010: MESRSI gives institutions 
four years to transition

http://www.mesrsi.gov.bf/


Burkina Faso: Sample Documents



Burkina Faso: Sample Documents



Côte d’Ivoire

• Population: 22.7 Million

• Geography: 322,500 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 1960; 2000; 
2016

• Civil War and Unrest: 2002 –
2007; 2010-11

• Literacy: 50% 



Côte d’Ivoire 

• Ministère de l’Enseignement 
Supérieur et de la Recherche 
Scientifique

• LMD Reform passed in 2009: 
Décret n°2009-164 du 30-04-
2009 

• Implemented in 2011

• Major universities 
transitioned well

• Private institutions complied 
very well 

http://www.enseignement.gouv.ci/


Côte d’Ivoire: Sample Documents 



Côte d’Ivoire: Sample Documents 



Guinea

• Population: 10.6 Million

• Geography: 245,860 km²

• Government: Military regime

• Independence: 1958

• Constitution: Suspended 
2008

• Literacy 32% 



Guinea

• Ministère de l’Enseignement 
Supérieur et de la Recherche 
Scientifique 

• In the early 2000s, institutions 
started to implement LMD reforms

• The first programs were launched 
in 2007/08 academic year

http://www.mesrs.gov.gn/


Guinea: Sample Documents



Guinea: Sample Documents



Guinea: Sample Documents



Mali

• Population: 16.3 Million

• Geography: 1,240,000 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 1992

• Literacy 35.5% 



Mali 

• Ministère de l’Enseignement 
Supérieur et de la 
Recherche Scientifique 

• LMD Reform introduced in 
2008: Décret n°08-790/P-RM 
du 31 Dec 2008

• Fully Implemented by 2011

http://dg-enseignementsup.ml/
https://dg-enseignementsup.ml/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Decret-portant-institution-du-systeme-Licence-Master-Doctorat-LMD.pdf


Niger

• Population: 1.26 Million

• Geography: 1,267,000 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 2010; and 
amended in 2017

• Literacy 
Total pop 15-30% 



Niger

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 
et de la Recherche et de la 
l’Innovation 

• MESRI with the Université 
Abdou Moumouni de 
Niamey introduced the LMD 
in 2009

• Fully implemented by 2011

http://www.mept.gouv.ne/index.php/2-non-categorise/330-les-ministeres


Niger : Sample Documents



Senegal

• Population: 14.8 Million

• Geography: 196,722 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 2001

• Literacy: 38% 



Senegal

• Ministère de l'Enseignement 
Supérieur, de la Recherche 
et de l'Innovation 

• LMD Reform passed in 2011: 
LOI n° 2011-05 du 30 mars 
2011

• Implemented in 2011

https://mesr.gouv.sn/


Senegal: Sample Documents

Samples courtesy of Tiffany Campbell and Valérie Ismar-Jabot from Comparative Education Services (CES) University of Toronto



Senegal: Sample Documents

Samples courtesy of Tiffany Campbell and Valérie Ismar-Jabot from  Comparative Education Services (CES) University of Toronto



Togo

• Population: 7.9 Million

• Geography: 56,785 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 1992

• Literacy: 63.7% 



Togo

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 
et de la Recherche Scientifique

• LMD Reform passed in 2008: 
Décret n°2008-066 du 21 
juillet 2008

• Implemented in 2008

• Postings on Ministry website 
in 2017 still refer to the final 
touches of the LMD reforms

http://ens-superieur.gouv.tg/fr


Togo: Sample Documents



FRANCOPHONE COUNTRIES OF 
CENTRAL AFRICA

Central Africa

• Cameroon
• Central African Republic
• Chad
• DR Congo
• Gabon
• Republic of Congo



Cameroon

• Population: 24 Million

• Geography: 475,650 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1961

• Constitution: 1972

• Unrest: 2017-Present

• Literacy: 75% 

• Official Languages 
French and English



Cameroon

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 
(MINESUP)

• LMD Reform law was passed 
in 2006: Directive n° 01/06-
UEAC-019-CM-14 du 11 mars 
2006

• But it was not implemented 
until 2007/08

https://minesup.gov.cm/


Cameroon: Sample Documents



Cameroon: Sample Documents



Cameroon: Sample Documents



Central African Republic

• Population: 5 Million

• Geography: 623,00 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 2015

• Civil Wars: 2004–2007; 
2012 to Present

• Literacy: 50% 



Central African Republic

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 

(Site Under Construction)

• Cannot find any Ministerial 
information because it has no 
website 

• Université de Bangui’s website 
shows a change in 2018 by 
offering 3 year Licence 
degrees

• In 2017, the DEUG still exists on 
the  Université de Bangui’s 
website

https://www.enseignement-superieur.gouv.cf/


Chad

• Population: 5 Million

• Geography: 1,284,000 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 2018 (9th)

• Civil Wars: 1965-2010

• Insurgencies: 2002-Present

• Literacy: 33% 



Chad

• Ministre de l’Enseignement 
Supérieur, de la Recherche 
Scientifique et de l’innovation 

(link is for the Government of Chad’s general 
website because the ministry has no website)

• LMD Reform passed in 2007: Arrêté 
no2751/PR/PM/MESRSFP/2007 du 29 
octobre 2007

• Some institutions, like Université de 
N’Djaména, started implementing 
LMD reforms in 2006

https://presidence.td/le-gouvernement/


Democratic Republic of Congo

• Population: 90 Million

• Geography: 2,344,858 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960 from 
Belgium

• Literacy: 64% 

• Formerly known as Zaire



Democratic Republic of Congo

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 
et Universitaire

• LMD Reform passed in 2014: Loi 
cadre n° 14/004 du 11 février 2014 
de l’Enseignement National

• Implemented in 2014

• According to Ministry, in 2022, only 
35% of private institutions have 
transitioned to the LMD system

• GLD  LMD System

http://www.minesu.gouv.cd/


STRUCTURE OF DR CONGO’S OLD AND NEW SYSTEMS

GLD SYSTEM

Diplôme d’Etat d’Etudes 

Secondaires du Cycle Long

Graduat/Gradué

Licence/Licencié

DEA DES

Doctorat

+3

+2

+2

+3

LMD STRUCTURE 

Diplôme d’Etat d’Etudes 

Secondaires du Cycle Long

Licence

Master +2

180 
Credits

120 
Credits

Doctorat +3 180 
Credits

+3



Gabon

• Population: 1.5 Million

• Geography: 267,667 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Literacy: 84.7% 



Gabon

• Ministère de l‘Enseignement 
Supérieur, de la Recherche 
Scientifique et du Transfert des 
Technologies

• LMD Reform passed in 2007: 

Décret No 940/PR/MESR portant 
application du système Licence-Master-
Doctorat dans les universités et les 
établissements d’enseignement supérieur 
en République Gabonaise, 2007, Article 9

http://www.enseignement-superieur.gouv.ga/


Republic of Congo

• Population: 4 Million

• Geography: 342,000 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Literacy: 81% 



Republic of Congo

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 
et de la Recherche Scientifique et 
de l’Innovation Technologique

• In 2012, the Université de Marien 
Ngouabi, the country’s only public 
university, implemented the LMD 
reform

http://www.congo-info.com/minister/18


FRANCOPHONE COUNTRIES OF 
EASTERN AFRICA

Central Africa

• Burundi
• Madagascar
• Rwanda



Burundi

• Population: 10.11 Million

• Geography: 27,834 km²

• Government: Republic 

• Independence: 1962 from 
Belgium

• Civil War and Unrest: 1993 - 2005

• Constitution: 2005

• Literacy: 37% 

• CLD  BMD System



Burundi 

• Ministère l’Enseignement 
Supérieur et de la 
Recherche Scientifique

• BMD Reform passed in 
2011: Loi N°1/22 du 
30/12/2011

• Implemented in 2011/12

• 2017: Université de Burundi 
opens its doctoral school

• Old system 2018 phased 
out

https://mesrs.gov.bi/


STRUCTURE OF BURUNDI’S OLD AND NEW SYSTEMS

CLD SYSTEM

Diplôme d’Etat / Diplôme des 
Humanités Complètes

Candidature

Licence

DEA DESS

Doctorat

+2

+2

+1

+3

BMD STRUCTURE 

Diplôme d’Etat 

Baccalauréat

Mastère +2

180 
Credits

120 
Credits

Doctorat +3 180 
Credits

+3



Burundi (Sample Documents)

Sample courtesy of Tiffany Campbell and Valérie Ismar-Jabot from Comparative Education Services (CES) University of Toronto  



Madagascar

• Population: 28 Million

• Geography: 587,040 km²

• Government: Republic

• Independence: 1960

• Constitution: 1992

• Literacy: 75% 



Madagascar

• Ministère l’Enseignement Supérieur 
et de la Recherche Scientifique 
(MESupReS)

• LMD Reform passed in 2008: 
Décret 2008-179 du 15 
février 2008

• Updated in 2012 which 
gave schools a deadline to 
comply by the beginning of 
the 2013/14 school year

http://www.mesupres.gov.mg/


Rwanda

• Population: 11.5 Million

• Geography: 26,338 km²

• Government: Republic 

• Independence: 1962 from 
Belgium

• Civil War & Unrest: 1993 - 2003

• Constitution: May 2003

• Official languages: French and 
English 

• Literacy: 65% 



Rwanda – Counter Example

• Rwandan Ministry of Education 
(MINEDUC)

• LMD Reform has never been passed 

• Instead 2007 National Qualifications 
Framework is implemented

• Anglicization Process begins in 2009 

• English replaces French as 
language of instruction

• In 2008, Credit Accumulation and 
Module System (CAMS) adopted

• 120 credits per year 

• 4 Year bachelor = 480 CAMs

https://www.mineduc.gov.rw/about


Cheat Sheet for LMD Reforms

Country Implementation Country Implementation

Benin Passed 2010, Implemented 2011 Guinea Early 2000s, Implemented 2007/08 

Burkina Faso Passed 2008, but had until 2014 Madagascar Passed 2008, Deadline 2013/14

Burundi Passed 2011, Implemented 2011/12 Mali Passed 2008, Implemented 2011

Cameroon Passed 2006, Implemented 2008/09 Niger Introduced 2009, Implemented 2011

Central African Rep. Seems like 2018. Cannot confirm Republic of Congo Implemented 2012

Chad Started 2006, Passed 2007 Rwanda Not Applicable – NQF implemented

Côte d'Ivoire Passed 2009, Implemented 2011 Senegal Passed and Implemented 2011

Democratic Republic 

of Congo

Implemented 2011, but private 

institutions still lagging behind

Togo Passed 2008, Final Touches 2017

Gabon Implemented 2007



CONCLUSIONS

• Harmonization is coming along in Africa

• Still in its infancy. A work in progress

• More success at the regional level

• Benefits: Countries are more motivated because of 
geographical proximity and shared history

• Challenges: Resources and Infrastructure, especially on the 
continental level.  Is there a role for the AU?

• The Francophone countries of Sub-Saharan Africa have 
proven that regional process can bring on results



THANK YOU

Bradley Haward

Bradley_Haward@bcit.ca
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